IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CHARLES KENNETH FOSTER, APPELLANT

CASE NO.: SC01-240 LOWER TRIBUNAL NO.: 75-486

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA, APPELLEE

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

APPEAL FROM DENIAL OF 3.850 MOTION FOR POST-CONVICTION RELIEF WITHOUT EVIDENTIARY HEARING

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The parties will be referred to as they stood in the trial court, and the following symbols used:

PC

Post Conviction Record on Appeal

Т

Original Trial Transcript

Appendix

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Defendant, Charles Kenneth Foster, appeals the Order denying his 3.850 Motion for Post-Conviction Relief without an evidentiary hearing.

His Motion alleged a systematic and unconstitutional exclusion of pregnant women or those with young children by the state and trial court. The defendant also asserts that jury verdicts of guilt of felony-murder and premeditated murder violate double jeopardy standards. This argument is bolstered by a lack of evidence of the crime of robbery or evidence to support a felony-murder theory.

Defendant also asserts a <u>Brady</u> or discovery violation for the state's failure to disclose a physician's letter to the sheriff as to defendant's "obvious mental disturbance." This mitigation evidence was favorable to defendant, and its nondisclosure prevented defendant's use of strong mental mitigation.

The state's jury notes relating to exclusion of women and Dr. Stewart's letter were obtained only by a recent Public Records request and search by defense's registry counsel investigator.

The trial court erred in denying defendant's post-conviction motion without an evidentiary hearing.

The other issues raised in the Motion regarding cruel and unusual punishment (23 years on death row and electric chair as cruel and unusual

punishment) are submitted for possible future Federal claims, although present law appears to reject such claims.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Development of Mr. Foster's case through the State and Federal Courts, including Appellate decisions, is found in Exhibit A of his Amended 3.850 Motion for Post-Conviction Relief. (PC 22-23) and (Appendix 1) Copy of Amended 3.850 Motion (PC 01-21) without exhibits appears in Appendix 2. Conformed copy of the trial court's order denying 3.850 relief appears at (PC 87-98 and Appendix 3.)

A summary of the facts at trial (appears in 369 So.2d 928 (Fla. 1979) (Appendix 1) revealed the following:

Anita Rogers, 20 years of age, and Gail Evans, 18 years of age, met defendant and the victim, Julian Lanier, at a bar. They knew defendant, but the victim was a stranger.

The girls, after a discussion, agreed to go to the beach or somewhere else to drink and party with the men. The victim bought whiskey and cigarettes, after which the four of them left in the victim's Winnebago camper. The victim was quite intoxicated and surrendered the driving chore to Gail. The defendant and the girls had planned for Gail to have sex with the victim and make some money. Gail parked the vehicle in a deserted area and, after some conversation concerning compensation, the victim and Gail began to disrobe.

13

Defendant suddenly began hitting the victim and accusing him of taking advantage of his sister. (Gail was not his sister). Defendant then held a knife to the victim's throat and cut his neck, causing it to bleed profusely. They dragged the victim from the trailer into the bushes where they laid him face down and covered him with pine branches and leaves. They could hear the victim breathing so defendant took a knife and cut the victim's spine.

The girls and defendant then drove off in the Winnebago and found the victim's wallet underneath a mattress. The defendant and the girls split the money found in the wallet and left the vehicle parked in the parking lot of a motel.

The next morning, Anita Rogers went to the sheriff's Department and reported what had happened. She had been committed to a mental institution when she was 13 years of age and was not charged with any offense in this case.

Defendant was charged by an indictment with the offenses of first-degree murder and robbery.

The defendant testified and during his description of the events of the evening testified as follows:

"I reckon I'll just cop out. I have done it, killed him deader than hell. I ain't going to set up here, I am under oath and I ain't going to tell no fucking lies. I will ask the Court to excuse my language. I am the one that done it. They didn't have a damn thing to do with it. It was premeditated and I intended to kill him. I would have killed him if he hadn't had no money and I know I never told you about it, but I killed him."

The jury returned verdicts finding defendant guilty of robbery, premeditated murder in the first degree, and felony murder. After the sentence hearing, the jury returned an advisory verdict unanimously recommending that defendant receive the death penalty. (PC 24-25)

Thereafter, Defendant's case was subject to several post-conviction applications and both State and Federal appeals. (See PC 22-58 and Appendix 1). The decision of <u>Foster v. State</u>, 614 So.2d 455 (Fla. 1992) remanded the case to enter a new sentencing order pursuant to <u>Rogers and Campbell v. State</u>, 571 So.2d 415 (Fla. 1990) and <u>Lucas v. State</u>, 568 So.2d 18 (Fla. 1990).

On August 12, 1993, Defendant was again sentenced to death, and the Florida Supreme Court affirmed the sentence on June 16, 1995 and Rehearing was denied June 19, 1995. See <u>Foster v. State</u>, 654 So.2d 112 (Fla. 1995). <u>Certiorari</u> was denied by the United States Supreme Court on October 10, 1995. <u>Foster v.</u> Florida, 516 U.S. 920, 116 S.Ct. 314, 133 L.Ed.2d 217 (1995).

After remand, the trial court again resentenced Foster to death (Appendix 4), and this was affirmed in <u>Foster v. State</u>, 654 So.2d 112 (Fla. 1995). *Certiorari* was denied by the United States Supreme Court in <u>Foster v. Florida</u>, 516 U.S. 920, 116 S.Ct. 314, 133 L.Ed.2d 217 (1995).

Defendant was appointed registry counsel on September 9, 1998, and an investigator, Michael Glantz, was appointed on December 12, 1998. A 3.850 shell motion had been filed by previous collateral counsel on September 9, 1998.

The Amended 3.850 Motion for Post-Conviction Relief was filed September 7, 1999. (PC 1-21) (Appendix 2) The State responded July 7, 2000. (PC 81-86)

Huff hearing was held on the Motion on November 27, 2000 before the Honorable Don Sirmons, Circuit Court Judge, Bay County, Panama City, Florida.

Defendant sought to simplify and condense issues raised in the previous shell motion and Claims I—XXX were included in the amended 3.850 merely to show that they were raised in the shell motion and not to address them in the amended 3.850 motion. (PC 3) Thus, Defendant's grounds under Paragraph 14, grounds A, B, C, D, E, and F (PC 12-18) of the amended 3.850 motion are the sole issues on this appeal.

Defendant concedes that his Amended 3.850 <u>Ground D</u> (PC 16), Defendant's confinement on Death Row for over 23 years constitutes cruel and unusual punishment and <u>Ground E</u> (PC 17) Electric Chair—cruel and unusual punishment have been resolved legally against defendant since the filing of his 3.850 motion. <u>Ground A—Constitutionally Flawed Harmless Error</u> is raised for Florida Supreme Court reconsideration or possible Federal proceedings. However, these issues are preserved for possible Federal Review since they involve death issues as applied to a person with severe mental deficiencies (Defendant was diagnosed as having..."serious organic problems secondary to head trauma and poor prenatal care," and ... "organic mental disorders." (PC 73) It further appears that the issue of execution of mentally retarded persons is presently before the United States Supreme Court.

Through public records disclosure of the prosecutor's files, Defendant's investigator, appointed December 12, 1998, obtained a previously undisclosed document of the original venire in his case. (PC 59-67) The amended 3.850 motion alleged that this document contained prosecution notes of the venire preselection process in Bay County. (PC 12) The jury list revealed that women were systematically excluded if they were pregnant or had small children. (PC 13)

It was further alleged that neither defendant or his counsel was present at this pre-selection process, no record of the event was made, except the list located ..."through public records disclosure by current counsel's investigator, Michael Glantz." (PC 14) Thus, claim was made that there was no documentation of this issue except the State's venire notes. (PC 14 and PC 59-67) The trial court denied Defendant an evidentiary hearing on this issue. (PC 95-96) (Appendix 3)

Claim C, Ground III of the amended 3.850 claimed a double jeopardy issue. (PC 15) This issue related to separate jury verdicts of guilt as to both felony murder and premeditated murder. (PC 15) Again, no evidentiary hearing on this was granted.

Ground F of the amended 3.850 alleged a Brady Rule Violation. (PC 17) This claim was also based upon Defendant's investigator, Michael Glantz, obtaining from the prosecutor's files pursuant to Public Records disclosure a letter from a jail physician, Dr. Russell Stewart, dated July 31, 1975, finding "obvious mental disturbance." Defendant alleged that this discovery violation (Brady) "…independent evidence from a medical expert not retained by the Defendant would likely have resulted in a different outcome than death either from jury recommendation or judicial decision." (PC 18) Again, the trial court rejected this claim without an evidentiary hearing.

From the Order Denying Post-Conviction Relief, December 27, 2000 (PC 87), Defendant filed timely Notice of Appeal to the Florida Supreme Court on January 22, 2001. (PC 99)

<u>ISSUE I</u>

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S 3.850 MOTION FOR POST CONVICTION RELIEF WITHOUT A HEARING BASED UPON HIS ALLEGED VIOLATION OF HIS RIGHT TO AN IMPARTIAL JURY (CONTRARY TO THE V, VI AND XIV AMENDMENTS UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION, AND ARTICLE I, SECTIONS 9 AND 16 CONSTITUTION OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA)

(STANDARD OF REVIEW – INDEPENDENT STANDARD—3.850 ALLEGATIONS NOT CONCLUSIVELY REBUTTED BY THE RECORD)

Failure of the trial court to permit an evidentiary hearing on this issue is reversible error. The amended 3.850 motion sufficiently alleges that the state's jury notes were not available until the public records review of the state's files by conflict counsel's investigator. (PC 12-15) Those notes revealed a systematic exclusion of pregnant women or women with young children.

The statute in effect at Defendant Foster's trial was declared unconstitutional in <u>Alachua County Court Executive v. Anthony</u>, 418 So. 2d 264 (Fla. 1982). In denying Defendant's amended 3.850, Judge Sirmons concluded that the <u>Alachua</u> case addressed "equal protection" issues and therefore did not … "compromise the integrity of the jury." (PC 96) <u>Alachua</u> very clearly declares the statute under which defendant's female jurors were excluded unconstitutional. Unconstitutional means unconstitutional, and a constitutionally carved out exception to Defendant cannot be logically sustained.

Cases cited by the trial court do not realistically address the issue presented here. Women were excluded under an unconstitutional statute, and any gender exclusions of that degree violate constitutional equal protection standards to an "impartial jury" under the Sixth Amendment, United States Constitution. Likewise such exclusion violates Article 1, Section 16, Constitution of the State of Florida. Also, the trial court's "equal protection distinction" does not find support in the United States Supreme Court. In <u>Batson v. Kentucky</u>, 106 S.Ct. 1712, 90 L.Ed.2d 69, 476 U.S. 79 (1986) the court held:

> By denying a person participation in jury service on account of his race, the State also unconstitutionally discriminates against the excluded juror. Moreover, selection procedures that purposefully exclude black persons from juries undermine public confidence in fairness of our system of justice. Pp. 1716-1718.

The same equal protection principles as are applied to determine whether there is discrimination in selecting the venire also govern the State's use of peremptory challenges to strike individual jurors form the petit jury. Taylor v. Louisiana, 419 U.S. 522, 95 S.Ct. 692, 95 S.Ct. 692 (1975) struck

Louisiana's jury pool law based upon its exclusion of women (except those who

requested to serve).

The Supreme Court held:

We accept the fair-cross-section requirement as fundamental to the jury trial guaranteed by the Sixth ****698** Amendment and are convinced that the requirement has solid foundation. The purpose of a jury is to guard against the exercise of arbitrary power--to make available the commonsense judgment of the community as a hedge against the overzealous or mistaken prosecutor and in preference to the professional or perhaps overconditioned or biased response of a judge. Duncan v. Louisiana, 391 U.S., at 155--156, 88 S.Ct. at 1450-- 1451. This prophylactic vehicle is not provided if the jury pool is made up of only special segments of the populace or if large, distinctive groups are excluded from the pool. Community participation in the administration of the criminal law, moreover, is not only consistent with our democratic heritage but is also critical to public confidence in the fairness of the criminal justice system. Restricting jury service to only special groups or excluding identifiable segments playing major roles in the community cannot be squared with the constitutional concept of jury trial. 'Trial by jury presupposes a jury drawn from a pool broadly representative of the community as well as impartial in a specific case....(T)he broad representative character of the jury should be maintained, partly as assurance of a diffused impartiality and partly ***531** because sharing in the administration of justice is a phase of civic responsibility.' Thiel v. Southern Pacific Co., 328 U.S. 217, 227, 66 S.Ct. 984, 90 L.Ed. 1181 (1946) Frankfurter, J., dissenting).

* * *

Yet a flavor, a distinct quality is lost if either sex is excluded. The exclusion of one may indeed make the jury less representative of the community than would be true if an economic or racial group were excluded.

The Florida Supreme Court in McArthur v. State, 351 So.2d 972 (Fla. 1977)

held that F.S. 40.01(1) did not exclude a constitutionally significant class, in as

much as no distinctive quality of parenthood or sex is lost by the exclusion.

Subsequently, however, the Florida Supreme Court in Alachua County v.

Anthony, 418 So.2d 264 (Fla. 1982) declared F.S. 40.013(4) unconstitutional based

upon its gender-based classification. It is important to note the court's language in

striking down the statute.

Although section 40.013(4) is not being challenged in this proceeding on sixth amendment grounds, we note that courts look with disfavor on broadly drawn automatic exemptions from jury service. In Duren v. Missouri, 439 U.S. 357, 99 S.Ct. 664, 58 L.Ed.2d 579 (1979), the United States Supreme Court declared unconstitutional an exemption available upon request to all women because of their important role in the home and family life. In Lee v. Missouri, 439 U.S. 461, 99 S.Ct. 710, 58 L.Ed.2d 736 (1979), the Court ordered that the Duren decision be retroactively applied to all juries sworn after the 1975 ruling in Taylor v. Louisiana, 419 U.S. 522, 95 S.Ct.692, 42 L.Ed.2d 690 (1975), which set out the basic constitutional guidelines for jury selection.

Our affirmance of the First District Court of Appeal's decision holding this automatic exemption unconstitutional does not mean that individuals, male or

female, with child-rearing responsibilities should not be granted an exemption from jury service under the discretionary provisions of section 40.013(6). We expect the trial judges of this state to recognize that one who has the responsibility of caring for small children has a legitimate ground for requesting and receiving an exemption under that section.

The case of <u>Parker v. State</u>, 456 So.2d 436 (Fla. 1984) seems to reject this claim, but the court stated it could not consider the issue because a transcript of the

hearing wherein the issue was raised was not provided (Emphasis supplied).

Foster was not granted an evidentiary hearing below although strong

grounds were asserted at the Huff hearing.

Defendant also alleged that trial counsel was ineffective for failure to

discover and litigate the venire exclusion issue. (PC 14) This alone should have

triggered an evidentiary hearing.

In Gaskin v. State, 737 So. 2d 509 (Fla. 1999) the court held:

In his postconviction motion Gaskin raised several claims of ineffective assistance of counsel. [FN10] He asserted that counsel rendered ineffective assistance ***514** during the penalty phase by failing to present important mitigating evidence by failing to provide Dr. Harry Krop, the mental health expert, with sufficient background information to properly assess Gaskin's mental condition, by failing to specifically address aggravating and mitigating factors in his closing argument to the jury, and by failing to request a limiting instruction on the doubling of aggravating circumstances. Gaskin contends the trial court should have held an evidentiary hearing on these claims. We agree.

See also Peede v. State, 748 So. 2d 253 (Fla. 1999) holding:

"To uphold the trial court's summary denial of claims raised in a 3.850 motion, the claims must be either facially invalid or conclusively refuted by the record. See Fla. R.Crim.P. 3.850(d). Further, where no evidentiary hearing is held below, we must accept the defendant's factual allegations to the extent they are not refuted by the record. See Lightbourne v. Dugger, 549 So. 2d 1364, 1365 (Fla. 1989)."

The leading case in Florida on the issue of denial of the evidentiary hearing

is Freeman v. State, 761 So. 2d 1055 (Fla. 2000)

Freeman holds:

Freeman further complains defense counsel was ineffective in failing to produce a qualified expert witness to testify to his drug and alcohol problems. Despite the fact that Freeman had a substantial history of drug and alcohol abuse and admitted to smoking marijuana on the morning Collier was killed, the only expert defense counsel presented during the penalty phase was a clinical psychologist who was not qualified to give an opinion on the effects of drug and alcohol abuse. The court also dismissed this claim, stating that more mitigation was not necessarily better. With Freeman's substantial history of drug and alcohol abuse, defense counsel may have been ineffective for failing to present an expert witness who was qualified to give an opinion on this issue. There is a reasonable doubt as to the effect such a witness might have had on the jury's recommendation. Therefore, the court should have held an evidentiary hearing.

See also Bethea v. State, 767 So.2d 630 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000).

Defendant urges this court to grant him an evidentiary hearing to develop the jury-gender and related ineffective assistance of counsel issues.

ISSUE II

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S 3.850 GROUND III VIOLATING DOUBLE JEOPARDY CLAIM AND IN DENYING AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING THEREON (CONTRARY TO THE V AND XIV AMENDMENTS UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION, AND SECTION 9, ARTICLE 1, CONSTITUTION OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA)

(STANDARD OF REVIEW—INDEPENDENT STANDARD—3.850 ALLEGATIONS NOT CONCLUSIVELY REBUTTED)

On October 3, 1975, Defendant was found guilty by separate verdicts of

Premeditated Murder (PC 68) and Felony Murder (PC 69) arising out of the same

murder.

Although his judgment and sentence was for First Degree Murder, it does

not specify for which of the two verdicts.

The Second District in Wittemen v. State, 735 So.2d 539 (Fla. 2nd DCA

1999) held:

Wittemen was convicted of premeditated first-degree murder, first-degree felony murder, and armed robbery. All three convictions arose out of the same incident which involved only one murder. We agree with Wittemen that convictions for both premeditated and felony murder for the same single murder violate double jeopardy. *See Lamb v. State*, 532 So.2d 1051 (Fla. 1988). While the State correctly conceded this below, it appears that the trial court vacated only Wittemen's sentence for felony murder and not the adjudication. Therefore, on this issue we reverse and remand so that the trial court can enter an order vacating Wittemen's conviction for felony murder. Wittemen's other claims relating to double jeopardy are without merit.

The jury verdict as to Felony Murder (Robbery) is without support as

Defendant's statement revealed the following:

"Well, if the judge will accept my plea of guilty and guarantee I will be electrocuted for taking this man's life, that's what I want. I got this robbery charge, you know, we didn't rob that man." (Transcript Original Trial, T-460) (Appendix 7)

The only other testimony going to that issue was that of Anita Rogers

(Childers), who said Defendant stated he was going to "rip the old man off."

(Original Trial Record, T-256) Mrs. Rogers testified she found the victim's wallet

underneath a mattress and gave it to the Defendant. (T 263) This took place after

the murder when the two women and defendant drove from the scene. (T 263-265)

(Direct Testimony appears at T 249-268, Appendix 5)

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