IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CHARLES KENNETH FOSTER,

Appellant,

CASE NO. SC01-240

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee /

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE APPEAL FROM DENIAL OF 3.850 MOTION

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CHARMAINE M. MILLSAPS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0989134

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

Contrary to Foster's assertion, the prejudice prong of *Brady* is routinely resolved by this Court and other appellate courts without an evidentiary hearing being held. Brady claims are reviewed *de novo*. *United States v*. *Hughes*, 230 F.3d 815, 819 (5th Cir. 2000). To establish a *Brady* violation, petitioner must establish that the letter was "(1) favorable to the accused, either because it is exculpatory, or because it is impeaching; (2) it must have been suppressed by the State, either willfully or inadvertently and (3)

the claim was merely a recouching of the claim already presented on direct appeal and rejected by this Court and thus was procedurally barred in a postconviction proceeding); Shere v. State, 742 So.2d 215, 218 n.7 (Fla. 1999) (concluding that the claim was procedurally barred because on direct appeal this Court held that the aggravator was supported by the evidence). Thus, the claim is procedurally barred by the law of the case doctrine. Furthermore, the insufficiency claim it is meritless. Foster asserts that there is no evidence of robbery in light of the defendant's testimony that he didn't rob the victim. The jury is not required to believe a defendant's version of the crime. Woods v. State, 733 So.2d 980, 986 (Fla. 1999) (noting that the jury is not required to believe the defendant's version of the facts where the State has produced conflicting evidence).

prejudice must have ensued. Way v. State, 760 So.2d 903, 910 (Fla.2000) (quoting Strickler v. Greene, 527 U.S. 263, 281-82, 119 S.Ct. 1936, 144 L.Ed.2d 286 (1999), cert. denied, 121 S.Ct. 1104 (2001). Prejudice is measured by determining whether the favorable evidence could reasonably be taken to put the whole case in such a different light as to undermine confidence in the verdict. In applying the test, the evidence must be considered in the context of the entire record. Rose v. State, 26 Fla.L. Weekly S210 (Fla. April 5, 2001)

However, Brady does not apply if the evidence in question is available to the defendant from other sources. United States v. Davis, 787 F.2d 1501, 1505 (11th Cir.1986); United States v. Brothers Const. Co. of Ohio, 219 F.3d 300, 316 (4th Cir. 2000) (finding evidence was not Brady material because it was available through the FOIA); United States v. Clark, 928 F.2d 733, 738 (6th Cir 1991) (stating that no Brady violation exists where the evidence is available to defendant from another source); United States v. Farkas, 867 F.2d 609 (4th Cir.1989) (concluding federal regulations, which are published in the Federal Register and the Code of Federal Regulations, are not Brady material). Where information is equally available to all parties, the evidence can not be said in any meaningful sense to be "suppressed" as required by Brady. United States v. Brown, 628 F.2d 471, 473 (5th Cir. 1980) (observing that in "no way can information known and available to the defendant be said to have been suppressed by the Government.")

In Baxter v. Thomas, 45 F.3d 1501, 1506 (11th Cir. 1995), the

- 38 -

Eleventh Circuit rejected a *Brady* claim because the defendant was equally aware of the information. Baxter asserted that the prosecution failed to disclose an order from a prior criminal case in which he was found temporarily incompetent to stand trial. The Eleventh Circuit explained that Baxter himself was aware of the order. *Baxter*, 45 F.3d at 1507.

Here, Foster himself, like Baxter, was aware that a physician had treated him in jail shortly after the murder. Indeed, Foster was aware of this information before the prosecutor. Thus, here, like *Baxter*, there was no *Brady* violation.

Nor can Foster establish prejudice. Foster alleges that the prejudice is that the letter was from an "independent" expert, however, the reports of numerous "independent" experts were presented to the trial court. These reports include discharge summaries from the mental health unit of Bay County Memorial hospital, mental evalution from a nine month involuntary commitment to Florida State Hospital at Chattahoochee and records from involuntary commitment proceedings. These reports were from psychiatrists who had been treating Foster prior to the crime. They were independent experts. More importantly, unlike the jail physician who is not identifies as a psychiatrist, these reports were from psychiatrists. The letter from Dr. Stewart only contained the phrase that Foster "obviously is mentally disturbed" without a diagnosis or identification of the mental disturbance. By contrast, the reports contain detailed diagnosis. The progress notes from a 1968 hospitalization contain a diagnosis of

- 39 -

schizophrena and treatment with Thorazine. A report from a 1970 involuntary hospitalization at Florida State Hospital contains a detailed mental history and a diagnosis of "schizophrenia, paranoid type". A discharge summary from 1972 by Dr. Sapoznikoff's of Bay County Memorial Hospital ruled out psychosis but diagnosed Foster as "emotionally unstable personality with psychopathic traits" and contained information that any seizure disorder was controlled by A second discharge summary from 1973 also from Dr. Dilantin. Sapoznikoff's following an apparent suicide attempt diagnosed Foster as "emotionally unstable personality with psychopathic traits" and contained information that any seizure disorder was controlled by Dilantin. The discharge summary from Dr. Mason of Bay County Memorial in early 1974 diagnosed Foster as a "latent schizophrenic or emotionally unstable personality" and "he was suffering from a psychotic organic brain syndrome" and that Foster became psychotic when he uses alcohol. A second discharge summary from Dr. Mason of Bay County Memorial in late 1974 diagnosed Foster as a "paranoid schizophrenic" with a long history and noted his treatment with Haldol. The letter was not merely cumulative; rather, it is of significantly less value than the reports actually presented. Thus, no prejudice ensued.

Foster also asserts a discovery violation. Foster is confused regarding the nature of discovery violations. The rules of discovery are designed to prevent trial by surprise. A discovery violation means that the State uses incriminating evidence at trial or a resentencing without disclosing that evidence to the defense.

- 40 -

The letter was not admitted at trial. Therefore, by definition, no discovery violation occurred. Cf. Rose v. State, 26 Fla.L. Weekly S210 (Fla. April 5, 2001) (in a resentencing where photographs were not introduced at the original proceeding but were introduced at the resentencing, stating that the claim appears to constitute a Richardson claim as well as a *Brady* issue but then clarifying that two different set of photographs were involved). Thus, the trial court properly summarily denied the *Brady* claim.

ISSUE IV

DID THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY SUMMARILY DENY THE CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT CLAIM CONCLUDING THAT THE ISSUE WAS PURELY A MATTER OF LAW? (Restated)

Foster asserts that executing a defendant after an extended stay on death row is cruel or unusual punishment. Foster further asserts that electrocution constitutes cruel or unusual punishment. The trial court denied this claim because it was "without merit" citing *Knight v. State*, 746 So.2d 423, 437 (Fla. 1998), *cert. denied*, 528 U.S. 990, 120 S.Ct. 459, 145 L.Ed.2d 370 (1999).

This issue is also does not require an evidentiary hearing. The cruel or unusual punishment challenge does not require any additional factual development. The only fact necessary to support this claim is that the defendant has been on death row since 1975. (Postconviction motion at 16). This fact is established by the judgment and sentence and is not in dispute. Such a claim is purely a matter of law that does not require an evidentiary hearing. Thus, no hearing is required to resolve this issue. A claim that a punishment violates the Eighth Amendment's ban against cruel and unusual punishment ir reviewed *de novo*. *Windham v*. *Merkle*, 163 F.3d 1092, 1106 (9th Cir. 1998).

This Court has previously rejected the claim that it is cruel or a violation of an international treaty to execute a defendant after an extended stay on death row. *Booker v. State*, 773 So.2d 1079, 1096 (Fla. 2000), *cert. denied*, 2001 WL 243444 (May 14, 2001) (rejecting claim for a defendant who had spent "over two decades on death row"); *Knight v. State*, 746 So.2d 423, 437

- 42 -

(Fla.1998), cert. denied, 528 U.S. 990, 120 S.Ct. 459, 145 L.Ed.2d 370 (1999) (rejecting claim for a defendant who had "endured more than two decades on death row"). As the Knight Court explained, both federal or state courts have rejected such claims. Knight, 746 So.2d at 437, citing White v. Johnson, 79 F.3d 432 (5th Cir.1996); State v. Smith, 931 P.2d 1272 (Mont. 1996); State v. Schackart, 947 P.2d 315, 336 (Ariz. 1997), cert. denied, 525 U.S. 862, 119 S.Ct. 149, 142 L.Ed.2d 122 (1998). The California Supreme Court has recently held that two decades on death row did not amount to cruel and unusual punishment. People v. Anderson, - P.3d - (Cal. May 14, 2001). The Anderson Court explained that the appeals process is a constitutional safeguard, not a constitutional defect. The California Supreme Court observed that any delay argument was "untenable" because if the death sentence is reversed on appeal, a defendant has suffered no conceivable prejudice and if the death sentence is affirmed, the delay has prolonged his life. The Anderson Court noted that a defendant can have no conceivable complaint about his extended incarceration because life without possibility of parole is the minimum sentence. In other words, a defendant would been facing prolonged incarceration regardless of the delay.

As another court observed, the delay in capital cases, in large part, "is a function of the desire of our courts, state and federal, to get it right, to explore exhaustively, or at least sufficiently, any argument that might save someone's life." *Chambers v. Bowersox*, 157 F.3d 560, 570 (8th Cir. 1998)(stating

- 43 -

that a fifteen year delay does not "even begin to approach a constitutional violation"). There is nothing unusual about a significant period between a death penalty being imposed and the execution. Unfortunately, it is all too usual for defendants to be executed only after an extended length of time on death row. Thus, an extended stay on death row is not cruel or unusual.

The electrocution claim is procedurally barred. Hall v. State, 742 So.2d 225, 226 (Fla. 1999) (reasoning that execution by electrocution is cruel or unusual punishment or both under the Florida and United States Constitutions, is procedurally barred because it was not raised on direct appeal). Additionally, this Court has repeatedly held that the electric chair does not constitute cruel or unusual punishment. Bryant v. State, 26 Fla. L. Weekly S218 (Fla. April 5, 2001); Holland v. State, 773 So.2d 1065, 1079 (Fla. 2000); Provenzano v. Moore, 744 So.2d 413 (Fla.1999), cert. denied, 528 U.S. 1182, 120 S.Ct. 1222, 145 L.Ed.2d 1122 (2000); Jones v. State, 701 So.2d 76, 79 (Fla.1997). Moreover, since this Court's decision in Provenzano, the legislature has amended the statute to provide for lethal injection as an alternative to the electric chair.⁸ The availability of this alternative forecloses any challenge to the electric chair as cruel or unusual punishment. Stewart v. LaGrand, 526 U.S. 115, 119 S.Ct.

⁸ The execution of death sentence statute, § 922.10, Florida Statutes (2000), provides in pertinent part:

A death sentence shall be executed by electrocution or lethal injection in accordance with s. 922.105.

1018, 143 L.Ed.2d 196 (1999)(holding petitioner waived Eighth Amendment claim that gas chamber was cruel and unusual punishment by choosing to be executed by gas rather than lethal injection). The trial court properly concluded that this issue is purely a matter of law and properly summarily denied this claim based on this Court's precedent.

<u>ISSUE V</u>

DID THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY SUMMARILY DENY THE CLAIM THAT THIS COURT'S HARMLESS ERROR ANALYSIS VIOLATED DUE PROCESS? (Restated)

Foster argues that any harmless error analysis in any death case violates due process. Foster asserts that this Court conducted a flawed harmless error analysis on the cold, calculated and premeditated aggravator. In Foster's direct appeal from a resentencing, *Foster v. State*, 654 So.2d 112 (Fla. 1995), this Court found that the jury instruction on the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravator was improper based on *Jackson v. State*, 648 So.2d 85 (Fla. 1994) because the instruction did not adequately explain the difference between the premeditation required to convict for first-degree murder and the heightened premeditation required to find the CCP aggravator. However, this Court found that the error was harmless.⁹ The trial court summarily denied the claim explaining that the sufficiency of this Court's harmless

⁹ The *Foster* Court explained that the giving of an erroneous CCP instruction could be harmless, if the State establishes "beyond a reasonable doubt that the invalid CCP instruction did not affect the jury's consideration or that its recommendation would have been the same if the requested expanded instruction had been given." The Foster Court concluded that the error was harmless because the murder could only have been cold, calculated, and premeditated. This Court found it "particularly telling" that after having concealed Lanier's body with bushes, Foster then proceeded to cut Lanier's spine with a knife when he realized that Lanier was still breathing and that Foster had "ample" time to reflect on his actions and their attendant consequences, after concealing Lanier's body and before cutting Lanier's spine, which was "compelling evidence of the heightened level of premeditation required to establish the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravator." Foster, 654 So.2d at 115.

error analysis may not be raised in a postconviction motion citing *Shere v. State*, 742 So.2d 215, 218 n. 7 (Fla.1999) and ruled that the constitution permits appellate courts to affirm a death sentence after striking an aggravator by performing a harmless error review citing *Clemons v. Mississippi*, 494 U.S. 738, 110 S.Ct. 1441, 108 L.Ed.2d 725 (1990).

This issue is also does not require an evidentiary hearing. Harmless error analysis is an appellate concept that does not require any additional factual development. Any additional evidence developed after the sentencing is irrelevant because the fact finder would not have heard the additional evidence. Such a claim is purely a matter of law that does not require an evidentiary hearing. Thus, no hearing is required to resolve this issue.

First, as the trial court noted, the propriety of this Court's harmless error analysis is not cognizable in postconviction proceedings. *Sireci v. State*, 773 So.2d 34, 40 n.12 (Fla. 2000) (explaining that challenges the sufficiency of this Court's harmless error analysis on direct appeal, may not be appropriately raised in a motion for postconviction relief citing *Shere v. State*, 742 So.2d 215, 218 n. 7 (Fla.1999) (finding that defendant's claim challenging the sufficiency of this Court's harmless error analysis on direct appeal cannot be raised in a motion for postconviction relief. Because the issue is not cognizable, there is no standard of review.

- 47 -

Secondly, this Court and the United States Supreme Court have both held that harmless error analysis is proper in a death case. Demps v. Dugger, 714 So.2d 365, 367(Fla. 1998) (rejecting a claim that the harmless error analysis violated Clemons v. Mississippi, 494 U.S. 738, 110 S.Ct. 1441, 108 L.Ed.2d 725 (1990) and affirming a death sentence after striking two aggravators citing White v. Dugger, 565 So.2d 700, 702 (Fla.1990)); Jones v. United States, 527 U.S. 373, 402, 119 S.Ct. 2090, 2109, 144 L.Ed.2d 370 (1999) (concluding in a direct appeal of a federal death penalty case that any error in the nonstatutory aggravators of victim vulnerability and victim impact was harmless and explaining that harmless error review of a death sentence may be performed in at least two different ways: (1) an appellate court may choose to consider whether absent an invalid factor, the jury would have reached the same verdict or (2) it may choose instead to consider whether the result would have been the same had the invalid aggravating factor been precisely defined citing Clemons v. Mississippi, 494 U.S. 738, 753-54, 110 S.Ct. 1441, 108 L.Ed.2d 725 (1990)). Thus, this Court's harmless error analysis performed in the direct appeal did not violate due process and the trial court properly summarily denied this claim.

- 48 -

CONCLUSION

The State respectfully requests that this Honorable Court affirm the trial court's denial of the 3.850 motion.